Virtu ITG Australia Limited POSIT® Client Operating Guidelines





Table of Contents

1	Virtu ITG Australia Ltd ('VIAU') Non-Public Crossing System Information	3
2	User Obligations	4
2.1	Access Criteria	4
2.2	POSIT User Obligations	4
2.3	Awareness of Potential Risks	4
3	Order Types	5
4	Operations	6
4.1	Access to POSIT and Order Routing	6
4.2	How Orders are Managed	6
4.2.1	Orders submitted to POSIT by Virtu brokerage (no Alert involvement)	6
4.2.2	Orders submitted to POSIT following an Alert Election	7
4.2.3	Self-Matched Orders	7
4.3	Pricing of Orders in POSIT	8
4.4	Order Cancellation	8
4.5	POSIT Opening Hours	8
4.6	Visibility into POSIT	8
4.7	Reporting of Orders matched in POSIT	8
4.8	Suspension of POSIT	9
4.9	System Failures and Outages	9
4.10	Conflicts of Interest in POSIT	9
4.11	Fair Treatment to POSIT Users	9
5	Fees	11



1 Virtu ITG Australia Ltd ('VIAU') Non-Public Crossing System Information

(i)

Information provided pursuant to ASIC Market Integrity Rules (Securities Markets) 2017 - Rule 5A.2.2.

The intended audience for this document is all clients of Virtu that access POSIT.

VIAU holds an Australian Financial Services License (# 219582) and operates a crossing system I respect of equity market products for its Agency Brokerage Clients ("clients") called POSIT® (crossing system identifier 3451).

VIAU is a Participant of the exchange market operated by ASX Limited ("ASX") and the exchange market operated by CBOE Australia ("CXA").

For the Publicly available Crossing System Information provided pursuant to Rule 5A.2.1 of the ASIC Market Integrity Rules (Securities Markets) 2017, please see https://www.virtu.com/regulatory-disclosures/

Note: Virtu may modify these guidelines at any time and at its own discretion. Upon material modifications, Virtu will notify its clients of the changes to the guidelines. By placing an order with Virtu for POSIT, clients will be deemed to have accepted these guidelines in their current form at the date of the placement of the order. Nothing in these guidelines should be taken as legal advice or a guide to action. Any failure by Virtu to comply with these guidelines does not constitute a breach of Virtu's Terms of Business with a client.



2 User Obligations

2.1 Access Criteria

Only clients of VIAU who are "wholesale clients" as defined under Chapter 7 of the Corporations Act 2001 may access POSIT and can be categorized into the following broad groups:

- · Institutions (such as but not limited to investment companies, fund managers, asset managers, hedge funds, dealers)
- · Crossing system operators that may trade as principal or agent (including on behalf of one of their related bodies corporate)
- · Liquidity providers
- · Other participants/third party brokers

A VIAU client enabled to have their orders source liquidity from POSIT has the choice of determining whether it wants its orders to interact in POSIT with some or all of these types of clients.

To have their orders access POSIT, a client must:

- · meet Virtu's Know-Your-Client and risk profile requirement;.
- enter into a written agreement with Virtu in respect of the brokerage services provided by Virtu and the type of trading undertaken by the entity with Virtu; and
- be approved as a client of Virtu by Virtu's internal client approval process.

Clients who do not wish to use POSIT may opt out of POSIT at any time and for no charge by contacting their Account Executive or emailing Virtu's APAC Compliance team (ap-compliance@virtu.com).

2.2 POSIT User Obligations

By being granted access to POSIT, all POSIT users hereby agree to place orders into POSIT in a manner that is not detrimental to other POSIT users or the POSIT system itself.

Each time a client places an order with Virtu, client agrees that:

- it will send orders to POSIT in accordance with the FIX specifications;
- · for self-match orders, the orders placed into POSIT effect a change in beneficial ownership;.
- if an order is a short sell order (as deemed so by the relevant rules and regulations ("the Applicable Rules") of an Exchange) and is permitted by such Applicable Rules, then it will notify Virtu of this prior to or at the time that it placed the order; and
- the order complies in all respects with all applicable Rules set in place by ASIC and/or the Applicable Rules of any other relevant Exchange.

2.3 Awareness of Potential Risks

POSIT users acknowledge and agree that they are aware of potential risks when submitting orders to POSIT. Examples of such risks include, but are not limited to:

- · lack of availability of the system due to a technical issue;
- · partial completion of an order or an incomplete order;
- · missing liquidity available in other trading venues;
- · the potential for adverse selection; and
- mis-priced execution



3 Order Types

A POSIT user can place the following types of orders into POSIT:

Order Types	Peg
Peg Types	Aggressive, Mid, Passive
Time in Force	Day and IOC
Pricing	Limit and Market

POSIT does not accept any other types of orders.

Orders submitted to POSIT must be designated with a time in force: "Day" or Immediate-or-Cancel ("IOC"). Day Orders (also known as "resting orders") may be submitted to POSIT prior to the market open and at any time during the regular trading day and are held in the system's order book until they are matched, cancelled, or expire. Users may submit Day Orders and IOC Orders that include various forms of trading constraints such as expiration of time or limit prices.

All orders in POSIT contain peg instructions, designated as "Passive," "Midpoint," or "Aggressive." Each order submitted to POSIT without an explicit peg instruction is assigned a default peg instruction. These default instructions are set at the user's request or by Virtu. Unless the user otherwise specifies a peg instruction on a given order, the default peg instruction is Aggressive.

Users can include a minimum execution quantity ("MEQ") constraint on their orders. These can be configured as a parameter on individual orders. Where MEQ is applied, POSIT will not execute the order in an amount less than such minimum quantity. POSIT does not aggregate multiple contra side orders to satisfy a MEQ instruction on a single order. POSIT will cancel back an order if the residual quantity of an order falls below the MEQ instruction.

Orders must be in round or mixed lots. Odd-lot orders are cancelled back to users. If a mixed-lot order is sent to POSIT, only round lot portions of that order will be eligible for trading, and the odd lot residual is cancelled.

When an order is submitted to POSIT, the system scans for available liquidity to determine whether there is a contra-side Day Order residing in the system. If there is no contra-side Day Order in POSIT, a Day Order will rest in the system and an IOC Order will be cancelled and returned. Unexecuted Day Orders are cancelled in accordance with the instructions of the submitting Users, or by default at the close of regular trading in the market.

See the Operations Section below, for a description of how (a) orders originating from POSIT Alert ("Alert"), Virtu's global block indications network, and (b) Self-Matched orders are handled in POSIT.



4 Operations

4.1 Access to POSIT and Order Routing

A client may choose how it wishes to access POSIT. The client may;

- 1. submit orders to Virtu's Trading Desk for placement of the order into POSIT by a Virtu trader;
- submit orders to Virtu Algorithms/Routers via electronic connection, which requires a FIX connection to Virtu's order handling system;
 - a. If a client wishes to be enabled for their orders submitted to Virtu Agency Execution Algorithms to access liquidity in POSIT, the client will need to comply with the algorithm FIX specification provided by Virtu to the client.
 - b. Virtu Agency Execution Algorithms govern a client's interaction with POSIT, therefore, there are no further prescriptive requirements or rules for clients who use POSIT other than those identified in this document (e.g. order types).
- 3. submit orders to POSIT via Virtu's Fix Gateway/Router.
 - a. To submit orders to POSIT via Virtu's Fix Gateway/Router, a client must first be approved by Virtu to do so.
 - b. Subject to such approval, Virtu will provide the client with the necessary FIX specification for POSIT.
- 4. Submit orders to POSIT following potential liquidity identification in Alert.
 - a. Alert is Virtu's global block indications network. It is a tool designed to identify potential liquidity and notify users of the potential opportunity.
 - b. Where a user receives an indication from Alert that there may be potential liquidity available in a desired instrument, and the user elects to act on that opportunity by submitting an order to Virtu, the following information will pass between Alert and Virtu's brokerage:
 - i. Alert informs Virtu of anticipated order counts for buy and sell orders to be crossed, as well as any changes in those order counts.
 - ii. Alert informs Virtu of a time before which all Alert users may elect to submit orders, i.e. choose to interact with the indicated liquidity and send an order to Virtu.
 - iii. Virtu will then inform Alert of all information associated with the orders submitted following an Alert election, including the outcome of a match.
 - iv. Virtu also communicates to Alert static client information prior to the start of trading, including configurations that may restrict crossing outcomes, or instances where a match may not be consummated, for example, based upon a default minimum share constraint.
 - v. Virtu will inform Alert of operational status information.

Indications of Interest ("IOIs") are not allowed within POSIT.

4.2 How Orders are Managed

4.2.1 Orders submitted to POSIT by Virtu brokerage (no Alert involvement)

POSIT is a broker crossing system, matching orders in equities on a continuous basis during standard Exchange hours for orders submitted to POSIT by Virtu through a variety of means, as described above.

Client orders submitted by Virtu to POSIT participate in continuous matches for as long as the Client's order is in force or until it is fully executed according to its terms.

POSIT is premised on matching buyers and sellers with marketable orders at all permissible price points at or within the NBBO including midpoint of the corresponding market.

POSIT employs a price, size, time priority crossing methodology. If there are several orders resting at the same price level, larger sized orders go to the top of the queue. Where orders at a given price level are of the same size, orders are then prioritised by time.

- 1. POSIT will execute Peg and Day orders against eligible contra-side IOC, Day and Peg orders.
- 2. For Peg and Day orders, priority is determined on a price, size, time basis.
- 3. For orders without a peg instruction, the limit price submitted is used to determine the price portion of the queue priority.
- 4. For orders with a peg instruction, the less aggressive price between the current peg price and limit price submitted is used to determine the price portion of the queue priority.
- 5. A client with Broker Priority approved and enabled on their session will get priority in the queue over size and time to facilitate self-crossing of orders originating from different underlying clients.
- 6. If a user modifies the terms of a previously transmitted order, the order will receive a new order time for matching purposes (i.e. the order will lose queue spot).
- 7. The only exception to this is a reduction in order quantity which, absent any other changes to the terms of the order, will not update the order time for matching purposes.
- 8. Liquidity providers receive potential price improvement and takers pay the spread adhering to limit and peg instructions.



9. In the case of an IOC order, the IOC order is always the removing order. In the case of two Peg and/or Day orders, the first in time is the providing order.

This logic is subject to the following constraints:

- 1. Minimum Execution Quantity;
- 2. User type, i.e. one user type (e.g. Institution) wishing to avoid crossing with another user type (e.g. a Broker);
- 3. Limit price (this may make the order unmarketable at the time of the cross);
- 4. Peg instructions (discussed further below); and
- 5. Self Match Prevention (if client not been approved and enabled for Broker Priority).

A client whose orders interact with POSIT has the choice of determining whether it wants its orders to interact with some or all of the different types of clients that send orders to POSIT. If a client wishes to restrict the types of counterparties they interact with in POSIT, they can do so by contacting their Account Executive.

4.2.2 Orders submitted to POSIT following an Alert Election

Where Virtu's brokerage chooses POSIT to cross orders resulting from Alert elections:

- 1. An order will be submitted to POSIT and will be identifiable to the system as having resulted from an Alert election.
- 2. Orders within POSIT that result from Alert elections will only be able to cross against other orders that originated from Alert elections. They cannot interact with other matchable liquidity that may be resting in POSIT.
- 3. Alert users shall be able to seek to submit lunch-time orders in response to indicated liquidity in relevant market securities (even when the relevant exchange is closed for trading during lunch-time), with such prices being the mid-price if valid Bid/Ask quotes are available.
- 4. Upon request from a client, Virtu will apply a maximum notional value constraint to the order.
- 5. Upon request from a client, Virtu will aggregate all of a user's orders that originated from Alert elections. Where such orders have a common minimum execution quantity constraint, Virtu will instruct POSIT to apply the minimum execution quantity constraint on the aggregated order.
- 6. Once Virtu informs POSIT of expected Alert user order count and maximum time period before which Alert users may submit orders, POSIT starts a cross timer. POSIT will attempt to run a cross between orders originating from Alert elections once the expected count of orders has been received.
- 7. POSIT returns all open shares submitted by Virtu for such a cross at the earlier of completion of a successful cross or upon the lapse of the cross timer.
- 8. Alert user orders routed by Virtu to POSIT in response to an Alert indication may only execute in a cross and may be cancelled or corrected before the cross occurs.
- 9. Following a cross between orders originating from Alert elections, any remaining quantity that has not crossed is cancelled back to the Alert users.
- 10. In the event a cross is not possible due to a marketability constraint, POSIT will retry crossing with every quote change while the cross timer runs and there is one or more non-marketable orders originating from Alert elections. If all orders originating from Alert elections are marketable and a cross still cannot be consummated due to other constraints, POSIT will return all orders until the cross timer expires.
- 11. POSIT will return unmatched shares for orders originating from Alert elections once a cross is consummated, or upon the lapse of the cross timer.

4.2.3 Self-Matched Orders

By default, POSIT does not allow a user's opposing orders to interact with each other in POSIT (also referred to as Self Trade Prevention ("STP")), i.e. STP is enabled for all users by default. Where STP is enabled for the client profile, orders submitted to POSIT and originating from the same Virtu client (i.e. with the same client identifier/short-name) are not eligible for matching. They are eligible for matching against opposing orders submitted for other clients, provided all matching criteria is met. This is a process Virtu has put in place which has been designed to prevent orders being effected where no change in beneficial ownership is taking place which could create a false or misleading appearance of active trading in financial instruments within POSIT.

Many of Virtu's clients and users of POSIT, however, have underlying clients of their own ("Underlying Clients"), and some of Virtu's clients wish to effect transactions within POSIT where they have both a buyer and a seller as Underlying Clients. In such instances, a change of beneficial ownership ("COBO") will be effective when the transaction completes (from Underlying Client 'A' as seller, to Underlying Client 'B' as buyer) even though both the buy side and sell side of the order are being effected in POSIT via one party, which is Virtu's client, acting, for example, as Broker, on behalf of both of its Underlying Clients.

For such scenarios, Virtu supports 'Self-Matched Orders' in POSIT, as an opt-in feature for users. In order to have the Self-Matched Orders feature enabled, a user must:

- 1. Opt-in for the feature;
- 2. Provide Virtu with a Confirmation of Change of Beneficial Ownership Letter which contains attestations affirming that each order submitted as a Self-Matched Order will represent a change in beneficial ownership and that user is aware of its legal and regulatory obligations in this regard;



3. Receive approval from Virtu for user's account to be enabled for Self-Matched Order feature.

There are two distinct ways to utilize the Self-Matched Order feature within POSIT, namely the 'Broker Priority' and 'POSIT-SELF' methods:

- 1. Broker priority: POSIT employs a price, size, time priority crossing methodology. A client with the Self-Matched Orders feature approved and enabled on their session is given priority in the queue over size and time to facilitate self-crossing of orders originating from different underlying clients for the same broker. For broker priority to work, Virtu assigned short-name must be the same on opposing sides of the order.
- 2. POSIT_SELF: Using FIX tag value, POSIT provides a separate facility for users to self-match. A client with Self-Matched Orders feature approved and enabled on their session, can choose to send their orders tagged as POSIT_SELF to ensure cross is only against their opposing orders. For POSIT_SELF to work, a designated FIX tags is required and same Virtu assigned short-name on opposing sides of the order.

Please note: The POSIT_Self method will only ever result in a self-matched order, an order rejection or cancellation. The Broker Priority method is a prioritisation tool – it is possible that part or all of either/both sides of the order could match with other liquidity within POSIT.

4.3 Pricing of Orders in POSIT

The price of an order matched in POSIT depends upon the limit prices and the pegging instructions on the orders in the match.

For Australian securities, POSIT will execute only at midpoint for matches that are under ASIC's block tier thresholds. For matches greater than or equal to ASIC's block tier thresholds, POSIT can execute at any permissible price point within the NBBO including midpoint.

In all other markets, POSIT can trade at all permissible price points at or within the NBBO including midpoint. POSIT price feed is made available by Virtu's Direct feed for Australia and the quote feed of a third-party market data vendor for all other including New Zealand, Japan, Singapore, Indonesia, Malaysia, Taiwan, Korea, Thailand, Philippines.

4.4 Order Cancellation

Order cancellations and amendments are made by the user by sending a standard FIX cancellation or cancel/replace request to Virtu.

4.5 POSIT Opening Hours

POSIT operates during the continuous trading sessions on the days upon which the relevant Exchange is open in respect of securities which have a valid quote on the Exchange (ie. POSIT will not operate in respect of securities that are in a trading halt).

If an Exchange is closed for a day, the relevant instance of POSIT will not operate for that day.

After Market Close on each trading day, all orders in POSIT are removed and no orders remain in POSIT to trade on the next trading day.

Alert users shall be able to seek to submit lunch-time orders in response to indicated liquidity in relevant market securities (even when the relevant exchange is closed for trading during lunch-time), with such prices being the mid-price if valid Bid/Ask quotes are available.

4.6 Visibility into POSIT

Certain information related to live orders, trading interest and recent executions that Virtu reasonably believes may suggest a user continues to have the same or additional live orders and trading interests in POSIT, is considered by Virtu to be confidential information. The following is a summary of shared personnel that provides services to POSIT and therefore have access to confidential information within POSIT: Compliance and Legal; Finance and Management Reporting Group, Executive Management; Operations, Core Operations, Software Developers; Product Management; Relationship Management; Sales and/or Trading Personnel responsible for handling a given order which is directed to POSIT; POSIT Alert Sales and Coverage; Analytics Personnel.

Virtu's policies and procedures restrict access to this confidential information by internal proprietary trading desks.

4.7 Reporting of Orders matched in POSIT

For Australian listed securities, VIAU reports crosses to the relevant Exchange within the time frame specified by the relevant rules.

For all other securities, VIAU submits reports to the relevant Exchange via a licensed local broker in the relevant jurisdiction.



4.8 Suspension of POSIT

Virtu will suspend the operation of POSIT if there is a technical or other system issue in respect of POSIT that materially affects the efficient or proper functioning of POSIT.

In such instances, the matching engine of POSIT will be suspended and POSIT may reject any new orders sent into the system and cancel any existing open order in POSIT at the time.

4.9 System Failures and Outages

If there is a technical or other system issue in respect of POSIT that causes a material delay or failure to the operation of POSIT, the Virtu POSIT Support Team will notify Virtu's APAC Compliance Team and inform it of the issue.

Where required, the Virtu APAC Compliance Team will then notify the relevant regulator and/or exchange, of the following:

- 1. A description of the effect or the technical and/or other system issue;
- 2. The causes or possible causes of the material delay or failure to the operation of POSIT affecting clients with orders in POSIT;
- 3. How the issue is being managed by Virtu.

Virtu will also notify all clients that have orders in POSIT at the time of the issue of the above and keep them updated if necessary.

Once the issue is resolved, the Compliance Team will update any previously notified regulators of the resolution and Virtu will notify all clients that have orders in POSIT at the time of the issue of the same.

During such an issue, Virtu is able to suspend symbols in POSIT which results in no matches taking place in POSIT. Virtu can also cancel open orders in POSIT and reject new orders from being submitted into POSIT.

In addition, clients should be able to cancel out their orders from POSIT depending upon the nature of the issue. If this is not possible, the client can contact its Account Executive or the Virtu Trading Desk and instruct them to cancel its orders on its behalf.

In the event of the suspension of POSIT, Virtu will not re-route new or existing orders in POSIT to alternative execution venues.

4.10 Conflicts of Interest in POSIT

At this stage, VIAU does not place orders for its own account into POSIT.

VIAU's foreign broker-dealer affiliates may route orders to VIAU for crossing in POSIT on behalf of their underlying clients. Orders from Virtu group entities are not given any form of preferential matching over orders from clients.

POSIT does not give any form of preferential matching based on agreed commission rate.

Although it does not engage in proprietary trading within POSIT and it therefore does not experience conflicts of interest normally associated with such activity, when VIAU executes or arranges any transaction for a client via POSIT, VIAU (or an affiliated company) may have an interest, relationship, arrangement, or duty which gives or may give rise to a conflict of interest with client's interest(s) in relation to the investment or transaction concerned or investments or assets underlying, derived from or otherwise directly or indirectly related to such investments ("Material Interest").

Subject to Applicable Law and VIAU's obligation to disclose to client here, client agrees that VIAU (or an affiliated company) is entitled to provide services to, or effect transactions for, client, notwithstanding that VIAU may have a Material Interest in, or a potential conflict of interest in relation to, the transaction or investment concerned, and Customer consents to VIAU's acting in any manner which VIAU would consider appropriate in such cases.

Should any conflict of interest arise from any source, VIAU will take all necessary steps to ensure fair treatment for client in relation to any such transactions and will manage any conflict of interest in accordance with Virtu's Code of Conduct.

4.11 Fair Treatment to POSIT Users

POSIT is operated by a common set of procedures for all users with the exception that orders originating from Alert elections are segregated from other liquidity in POSIT for matching purposes.

Virtu monitors, and from time to time analyzes, the interaction in POSIT to monitor consistent treatment of client orders across various aspects.

For the avoidance of doubt, this extends to POSIT orders received from clients that are related bodies corporate to Virtu and to orders from third-party brokers and/or liquidity providers. VIAU's foreign broker-dealer affiliates may route orders to VIAU for crossing in POSIT on behalf of such affiliate's underlying clients. Orders from Virtu group entities are not given any form of preferential matching over orders from clients.

Liquidity providers ("LPs") or market makers ("MMs") that are clients of VIAU may submit orders to POSIT. Orders from LPs and MMs



are not given any form of preferential matching over orders from other clients, nor any other special benefit, and Virtu does not exact any additional commitments from LPs or MMs as users of POSIT.



5 Fees

Orders placed into POSIT that are matched are charged a brokerage commission fee that is predetermined through negotiations and is standard to the client. These fees are not in addition to Virtu's standard commission rates. Virtu does not implement a fee structure whereby fees are determinate by user type. Rather, POSIT fees are negotiated on a client-by-client basis. There is no preference or effect on an order's interaction with POSIT which is in any way linked to client fees.



CONTACT

To learn more, contact your sales representative or call our desk at:

APAC+852.2846.3592 | CAN+1.416.874.0800 | EMEA+44.20.7670.4066 | US+1.646.682.6199 info@virtu.com | www.virtu.com

© 2024 Virtu Financial, Inc. All rights reserved. Not to be reproduced or retransmitted without permission. These materials are for informational purposes and are not intended to be used to make trading or investment decisions, they are not intended as an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any security or financial product, and are not intended as advice (investment, tax or legal). The information contained herein includes Virtu proprietary information and/or has been taken from sources we believe to be reliable, but we do not represent or warrant that such information is accurate or complete and it should not be relied upon as such.

Securities products and services are offered by the following subsidiaries of Virtu Financial, Inc. In the U.S., Virtu Americas LLC, member FINRA and SIPC; in Canada, Virtu Canada Corp., member Canadian Investor Protection Fund and Canadian Investment Regulatory Organization; in Europe, Virtu Europe Trading Limited, registered in Ireland No. 283940 ("VETL") (VETL is authorized and regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland), and Virtu Financial Ireland Limited, registered in Ireland No. 471719 ("VFIL") (VFIL is authorized regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland). The registered office of VETL and VFIL is North Dock One, Fifth Floor, 91-92 North Wall Quay, Dublin 1, Ireland, D01 H7V7; in Asia, Virtu ITG Hong Kong Limited (SFC License No. AHD810), Virtu ITG Singapore Pte Limited (CMS License No. 100138-1), and Virtu ITG Australia Limited (AFS License No. 219582).

Version Date 23 Dec 2024 Page 12